
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
TUESDAY 3 MARCH 2020 at 5.30pm 

 
 

COMMITTEE ROOM 3 - CIVIC SUITE 
 

 
 
 

 

LICENSING COMMITTEE  

Public Document Pack



Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do? 

 

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council. 

(b)  When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must: 

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it 

 Not participate in any discussion or vote 

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with 

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting 

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter. 

 

Disclosable Interest 

 

Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses. 

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income. 

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the Council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where— 
 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and 
(b) either— 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society. 



 
  

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN  
BOROUGH COUNCIL 



 
To: Councillors B Groom, F Nash, J Butler 
(Chairman), J Hamilton, K Macnaughton, 
K Allsopp, P Thomas, P Davies, 
P Hogarth MBE (Vice-Chairman), R Grinsell 
and T Dicicco 
 

 
NICK PAGE 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
Council House, Manor Square 
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB 
Tel. 0121-704 6000  
 
David Acton 
Tel: 0121 704-6156 
Email: dacton@solihull.gov.uk 
 
Date 25 February 2020 
 

 
LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 
 

TUESDAY 3 MARCH 2020 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

 

1.  APOLOGIES  
 
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
To receive declarations of interest from Members. 
 
 

3.  QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
To answer questions, if any, asked by any resident of the Borough pursuant to 
Standing Orders. 
 
 

4.  REVIEW OF LICENCE CONDITIONS FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND 
PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS, OPERATORS AND VEHICLE PROPRIETORS 

(Pages 5 - 34) 
To seek Members approval to undertake a consultation exercise on the review 
of licence conditions for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers, operators 
and vehicle proprietors. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Meeting date: 3 March 2020 

 

Report to: Licensing Committee 

Subject/report 
title: 

Review of  Licence Conditions for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
drivers, operators and vehicle proprietors  

Report from: Assistant Director Stronger Communities 

Report 
author/lead 
contact officer: 

Anne Bettison, Regulatory Services Manager 

abettison@solihull.gov.uk 

 

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

Public/private 
report: 

Public 

Exempt by virtue 
of paragraph: 

Select an Exemption paragraph from the Quick Parts drop-down list 

 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

1.1 To seek members approval to undertake a consultation exercise on the review of 
licence conditions for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers, operators and vehicle 
proprietors. 

2. Decision(s) recommended 

2.1 To agree to a consultation exercise running from 4th-17th March 2020 seeking views on 
the revised licence conditions for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers, operators 
and vehicle proprietors. 

3. Matters for Consideration 

3.1 On the 12th February, the Licensing Committee approved a revised Licensing Policy for 
the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trades, which will come into force on 1 April 
2020.   

3.2 In order to ensure the policy is implemented effectively, and the licensing regime is 
integrated and robust, a review of licensing conditions is necessary. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

 
 

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 No Change – continue with outdated conditions that do not reflect the new policy aims.  
This would be inconsistent with the objective of an integrated and effective licensing 
regime.  

4.2 Review and implement licence conditions without consultation – it is good practice to 
consult with licence holders, industry representatives and members of the public as it 
will be an opportunity for them to comment from their own perspective and may make 
suggestions on areas that have not previously been considered. Not undertaking 
consultation would not encourage diverse points of view. 

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 Members are requested to approve the consultation exercise in order that opinions may 
be sought from across the industry and the general public.  It is proposed that the 
conditions come in to force on 1st April 2020 in line with the new policy. 

5.2 The conditions will be reviewed annually, alongside the policy to ensure that legislative 
change is reflected along with national licensing priorities and technological 
advancements. 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 How the proposals in this report contribute to the delivery of Council Plan priorities: 

Priority: Contribution: 

Securing inclusive economic 
growth.  

Public transport is key to the growth agenda within 
the borough and the safety of the public using 
hackney carriages and private hire vehicles is 
paramount. 

Planning & delivery for 
Solihull’s low carbon future (to 
include biodiversity 
implications). 

Conditions relating to electric vehicles help to 
minimise carbon emissions within the Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire industry 

Managing demand and 
expectation for public services.  

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing is a 
statutory requirement of the Council, and ensuring 
it is approached in a robust way helps the general 
public to understand its importance and how the 
regime ensures consumer protection. 

Developing our approach to 
services for adults and children 
with complex needs.  

Conditions ensure that the licence holder is aware 
of his/her responsibilities to protect his/her 
customer.  The passenger may be elderly, young, 
suffer from a disability, had too much to drink or 
may be vulnerable for a whole host of other 
reasons.  The reviewed conditions offer greater 

Page 6



 

 
 

protection for these groups of people as well as all 
users of taxis and private hire vehicles. 

Making the best use of our 
people and physical assets. 

The Licensing Authority can ensure that conditions 
are adhered to, and if they are not, robust action 
can be taken to address any areas of concern.  This 
will instil greater confidence in the travelling public. 

6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 Approval for consultation is sought. 

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 None 

6.4 Legal implications: 

6.4.1  In attaching these conditions to a licence granted, the Licensing Authority has set out 
what its expectations are of its licence holders.  If a licence holder is in breach of the 
conditions, they may be liable to prosecution and/or a review of their licence which could 
result in suspension, revocation or refusal to renew.  

 
6.4.2 If a licence holder is aggrieved by any of the conditions attached to his/her licence 

he/she may make an application for exemption from them and attend a hearing before 
the appropriate committee, or alternatively he/she can appeal to a Magistrates Court 
within 21 days of the service of the licence and conditions on him/her. 

 
6.5 Risk implications: 

6.5.1 Implementing a policy without having up to date and fit for purpose conditions carries 
risks to the Licensing Authority in being able to carry out its duties effectively and 
robustly. 

6.6 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 In line with current legislation. 

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 Appendix A – Proposed Private Hire Operator Conditions 

 Appendix B – Proposed Private Hire Driver Conditions 

Appendix C - Proposed Private Hire Vehicle Proprietor Conditions 

Appendix D – Proposed Hackney Carriage Vehicle Proprietor Conditions 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Protecting Users – Statutory guidance for 
licensing authorities produced by the DfT, February 2019 consultation version 

Page 7



 

 
 

8.2 Bromsgrove District Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Handbook 

8.3 City of Stoke on Trent Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy 

8.4 City of Wolverhampton Council conditions relating to the issue of a licence to drive a 
private hire vehicle, and private hire vehicle conditions of licence.   

9. List of other relevant documents 

9.1 None 

Page 8



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL  
 
PRIVATE HIRE OPERATOR CONDITIONS OF LICENCE 
 
Interpretation 
 
In these conditions:- 
 
a) “The Licensing Authority” means Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council. 
 
b) “Authorised Officer” means any Officer authorised by the Licensing Authority or any 

Police Constable. 
 
c) “Operator” means the person to whom the Licensing Authority has granted the Private 

Hire Operator’s Licence to which these conditions apply. In the case of a partnership 
“operator” means each of the partners, and in the case of a company, “operator” means 
each of the company directors and the company secretary.  

 
d) “Licence” means the Private Hire Operator’s Licence, granted by the Licensing Authority. 
 
Introduction 
 
This licence is granted to you subject to you complying with the following conditions of licence.  
The Licensing Authority reserves the right to vary these conditions or impose further conditions 
at any time. 
 
Failure to comply with any of the conditions may lead to a prosecution or could lead to your 
licence being suspended, revoked or not renewed by the Licensing Authority. 
 
Possession of this document does not guarantee that the licence is in force. Its validity may 
be established by the Licensing Authority. 
 
If you are aggrieved by any of these conditions attached to your licence you may make an 
application for exemption from them and attend a hearing before the appropriate committee. 
Alternatively you can appeal to a Magistrates Court within 21 days of the service of this licence 
and conditions on you.  
 
If you have any difficulty in understanding or complying with of any of the conditions below, 
please inform the Licensing Authority immediately so that arrangements can be made to assist 
you in that respect.  
 
These conditions are attached to your licence in addition to any other legal requirements to 
which you are required to comply. These include, but are not restricted to, the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
1. Notification to the Licensing Authority 
 
1.1 If the Operator is convicted of any offence, or is cautioned, or receives a fixed 

penalty notice, or has a court case pending, or is under investigation by any other 
Licensing Authority or other Enforcement Agency, or has any other licence 
suspended, revoked or refused, he/she must report the details in writing 
(electronic) to the Licensing Authority within seven days. 

 

Page 9



1.2 If the Operator is charged or summonsed for any offence, has a court case 
pending or receives any civil injunction, he/she must report the details in writing 
(electronic) to the Licensing Authority within seven days.  

 
1.3 If any company or limited liability changes its registered office or if any changes 

are made to the ownership or management of a company, the Operator must 
report the details in writing (electronic) to the Licensing Authority within seven 
days.  

 
1.4 An Operator will be required undergo a Standard Disclosure & Barring Service 

(DBS) check at the time of every licence renewal.  The Licensing Authority may 
also require Operators to subscribe to the DBS update service so that a regular 
check of the certificate can be undertaken. Failure to disclose any spent or 
unspent convictions or any cautions at any time may result in formal action being 
initiated against the Operator. 

 
1.5 The licence is only granted in respect of the premises notified to the Licensing 

Authority at the time of application.  The premises from which the Operator 
conducts his/her business must be within the district of this authority.   

 
1.6 The Licensing Authority has the right to refuse the grant of an Operator’s licence 

where the proposed business name is the same as, or similar to, that of an 
existing Operator licensed by this Licensing Authority, or any other Authority 
within the region. The Licensing Authority also has the right to refuse to grant or 
renew an Operator’s licence, where the business name is either changed, or made 
up from a collection of other Operator names operating within this Licensing 
Authority area, or any other Authority district within the region. 

 
1.7 If the Operator intends to change the business address of the operation, written 

consent must first be obtained from the Licensing Authority and if approved, the 
original licence must be returned before any new licence is granted. Consent will 
only be granted in respect of those premises which have planning permission to 
be used as a Private Hire Operator’s business.  It is for the Operator to ensure 
appropriate planning permission has been obtained. 

 
1.8 At all times, an Operator must ensure that all vehicles and drivers operating under 

the licence are compliant with the legislation and conditions relevant to Private 
Hire Drivers and Vehicles.  

 
1.9 The licence is not transferable and must be on display on the premises in a 

prominent position.  The Operator shall at all times keep a copy of these 
conditions on the premises to which this licence relates and shall make the same 
available for inspection by an Authorised Officer at any reasonable time. If the 
Operator has a website, the licence number and the name of the Licensing 
Authority must be included. 

 
2. Insurance and policies 
 
2.1 The Operator will have in force a current public and employees’ liability insurance policy, 

a copy of which will be made available to the Licensing Authority if requested. 
 
2.2  If the Operator employs more than 5 people, he or she will have a Health and Safety 

policy available for inspection by an authorised officer and the relevant notices shall be 
displayed on the premises. 

 

Page 10



 
 
3. Documents to be kept by the Operator 
 
3.1 The Operator must retain a copy of the Private Hire Driver’s Licence issued by the 

Council under Section 51 of the Act prior to engaging a driver. The Operator must also 
retain a copy of the driver’s current DVLA licence.  These documents must be retained 
for the entire period the driver is engaged and for a further twelve months afterwards. 

 
3.2 The Operator will maintain up to date records of all private hire and hackney carriage 

vehicles operated by him.  The record must show for each vehicle: 
 

a) The vehicle licence number; 
b) Name, address, contact details to whom the vehicle licence is granted; 
c) Make and registration number of vehicle; 
d) Copy of current certificate of insurance or cover note; 
e) Date the vehicle was accepted to undertake work under the licence; 
f) Date the vehicle ceased to accept work under the licence. 

 
3.4 The information may be recorded electronically or in paper form, but must be easily 

searchable and accessible for the purposes of responding to enquiries from an 
authorised officer. 

 
3.5 The information regarding vehicles, drivers and insurance must be retained on the 

Operator's premises for at least twelve months and be available for inspection by an 
authorised officer at any reasonable time.    

 
4. Records  
 
4.1 Operators must keep records of all bookings, and vehicles and drivers operated, either 

in a suitable hard back book, which has consecutive page numbers, or a computer 
database that has been approved by the Licensing Authority prior to the grant of the 
licence.  If any changes are planned to the book or computer database, the Operator 
must inform the Licensing Authority at least 14 days before the changes are 
implemented. 

 
4.2 Before each journey is commenced, the following details must be recorded in the 

book/computer database:  
 

a) The name or signature (where applicable) of the person making the record and the 
radio operator for each period of duty;  

b) The time and date of the booking; 
c) The name of the hirer; 
d) The date, time and point of pick up; 
e) The destination (where available); 
f) The time a vehicle was allocated to the booking; 
g) The driver’s call sign, badge number and/or registration number of the vehicle 

allocated for the booking; 
h) The fare agreed for the journey (where appropriate); 
i) Remarks or notes (including details of any sub-contract). 

 
4.3 It shall be the responsibility of the Operator to ensure that if records are kept in a book, 

they are entered immediately after they have been accepted (or as soon as reasonably 
practicable), are kept in a legible manner and are written in ink. Times must be recorded 
using a 24 hour clock. 

Page 11



 
4.4 It is a further condition that the Operator must pass the following information to the driver 

at the time of the booking:  
 

a) The name of the hirer; 
b) The time and point of pick up;  
c) The destination (where available); 
d) The fare (if applicable).  

 
4.5 The Operator must be able to determine at any given time, the details of all private hire 

vehicles operated by him/her and must include details of the vehicle proprietors, 
registration number name of the driver in each case, together with the approved call sign 
or other identification allocated to each driver. The Operator must keep all records of 
any changes to call signs or other identification of a particular driver. 

 
4.6 All records shall be kept for at least twelve months and be readily available for inspection 

by an Authorised Officer of the Council or Police Constable at any time during the hours 
of operation.  

 
4.7 Within the controlled district of Solihull, the Operator must operate only those private 

hire vehicles and drivers licensed by Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council.    
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 
5. Staffing 
 
5.1 The Operator, or a responsible person over the age of 18 and nominated by the Operator 

in writing to the Licensing Office, must be on the premises and in charge of the operation 
and immediately contactable by any authorised officer at any time during business 
operation.  

 
5.2 The Operator must also ensure that any person left in charge of the premises in the 

absence of the Operator(s) is fully aware of these conditions of licence, in particular 
those relating to the keeping and maintaining of records for drivers, vehicles, and 
bookings, and the need to comply with the conditions at all times.  

 
5.3 The Operator must ensure that all staff employed or contracted by him who can access 

personal information in relation to bookings, contracts etc. are suitable to be working in 
that environment.  In doing so, they must undertake relevant checks which could include 
(but is not limited to) requiring a basic disclosure certificate for those 
employees/contractors.  A statement or policy on what the Operator considers suitable 
criteria for determining the fitness and propriety of those employees/contractors must be 
made kept by the Operator, reviewed periodically and made available for inspection by 
an authorised officer at any reasonable time.  

 
5.4 The Operator must keep and maintain at the premises to which this licence relates, a 

register of all members of staff, to include the following information: 
 

a) Full name; 
b) Date of Birth; 
c) Home address; 
d) National Insurance number; 
e) Contact telephone number; 
f) Any code they may have been allocated; 
g) The dates their employment commenced and terminated; 
h) Documentary proof of identification; 
i) Documentary proof that the employee has been registered with HMRC; 

Page 12



j) Documentary proof of the employee’s right to work in the UK. 
5.5  The above must be made available to an authorised officer for inspection at any time   

during operational hours. 
 
6. Fleet insurance policies 
 
6.1 Operators using vehicles under a fleet policy must ensure that details of each Private 

Hire Vehicle are listed on the insurance certificate, the schedule, or the policy itself.  
 
6.2 Similarly, any Private Hire Driver authorised to have use of such vehicle should again 

be named on the certificate, the schedule, or the policy itself.  
 
6.3 Operators should ensure that accurate records are kept at all times to identify the driver 

using any particular vehicle at any particular time. 
 
6.4 All Insurance documents produced to the Licensing Authority should be in their original 

format (if the original format is electronic, this is acceptable).  
 
7. Advertising 
 
7.1 The Operator shall advertise the business in the name indicated on the Private Hire 

Operators licence or in any manner that gives rise to confusion with any other Private 
Hire Operator licensed by this Licensing Authority or any other Licensing Authorities in 
the region. 

 
7.2 All Private Hire Vehicles operated must display at least one operator identification sign 

on either side of the vehicle on either the front or rear doors.  Windscreen signs are also 
permitted but they must be displayed in such a manner that does not obstruct the driver’s 
view.  Signage must include the following: 

 
a)  The current trading name of the business operating the driver and vehicle (as 

specified on the licence); 
b)  The corresponding telephone number or app details of that business. 

 
7.3 The call sign of the driver must be displayed in the front and rear windscreens. 
 
7.4 All external signs must be made of a weatherproof material. 
 
7.5 Vehicles that have been granted an exemption by the Licensing Authority not to display 

a licence plate or Operator signage will be required to carry the plate in the boot of the 
vehicle, together with documentation confirming details of the exemption, the Operator 
and call sign.   

 
7.6 The operator shall not cause or permit the words ‘taxi’, ‘cab’, or ‘for hire’ or any other 

word or combination of letters that may lead any person to believe that the vehicle may 
be a hackney carriage on any private hire vehicles operated under his licence. 

 
7.7 An Operator shall not ‘pass off’ or advertise his/her business using a similar name, font, 

or colour scheme to that of any other Operator licensed by the Licensing Authority or 
any other Licensing Authority within the region. 

 
8. Complaints 
 
8.1 The Operator must designate a named complaints manager and must have a 

documented complaints procedure in place.  The Operator must establish a procedure 

Page 13



to fully investigate any complaints made by passengers, or other members of the public. 
An accurate record of the complaint must be kept showing, as a minimum, the following 
information: 
 
a) Date and time of incident; 
b) Complainant’s details (including contact details); 
c) Incident details; 
d) Identity of driver and/or vehicle (including badge and plate number); 
e) What actions the Operator has taken or proposes to take; 
f) Outcome of complaint.  

 
8.2 Complaint records must be kept for a minimum of twelve months. 
 
8.3 The Operator shall ensure that when a customer reports an incident or makes a 

complaint, the customer is informed that in certain circumstances his or her details may 
be passed to the Licensing Authority or police in order for them to investigate further.  
This can be done (for example) by way of a statement on the business website, app or 
recorded message on the telephone line (or a combination). 

 
8.4 Complaints must be categorised into levels of seriousness that will determine the action 

to be taken, as follows: 
 
8.4.1 Level 1 – Immediate action – these complaints must be referred to the Licensing 

Authority (and the police where appropriate) immediately, and in any case within 24 
hours: 
 
a) Sexual assault or misconduct involving any sort of touching or physical contact; 
b) Inappropriate sexual remarks, language or questioning;  
c) Physical assault or altercations; 
d) Serious verbal altercations to customers or staff including the threat of violence with 

or without a weapon; 
e) Accidents with serious injury/fatality; 
f) Allegations of driving under the influence of alcohol or drugs; 
g) Driver arrested or detained by the police;  
h) Theft from a customer/passenger. 

 
8.4.2 Level 2 – Investigation first – these complaints must be referred to the Licensing 

Authority after investigation, but within seven days: 
 
a) Verbal altercations, including raised voices, angry remarks towards other 

motorists/pedestrians, use of foul or inappropriate language, aggression etc. 
b) Refusal to return property; 
c) Plying for hire/touting; 
d) Poor standard of driving; 
e) Substantiated overcharging; 
f) Post-trip contact by driver; 
g) Poor condition of vehicle or driver. 

 
8.5 The lists in each category are non-exhaustive and if there is any doubt, the Operator 

should refer the complaint to the Licensing Authority as soon as possible for further 
advice. 

 
8.6 The complaint records should be made available to the Licensing Authority on request. 
 
 

Page 14



 
9. Lost Property 
 
9.1 Reasonable attempts must be made to return any identifiable lost property to its owner.  

If this is not possible, it must be handed into a local police station. Examples of 
identifiable properties are driving licenses, passports, wallets/purses, mobile phone, 
laptops etc. 

 
9.2 Non identifiable lost property is to be retained by the Operator for a period of six weeks 

after which time any unclaimed items may be claimed by the person who handed in the 
property. 

 
9.3 Perishable goods, such as frozen foods, dairy products, fruit and vegetables should be 

disposed of at the discretion of the Operator. 
 
9.4 The Operator must have a system for recording and storing all non identifiable lost 

property. The Operator must also keep an accurate record of any identifiable lost 
property that has been handed into a police station. 

 
10. Meters/Radios/PDAs/Handheld mobile devices 
 
10.1 If any vehicles operated are fitted with a meter, the rate of fares at which the meter is 

calibrated shall be displayed within the vehicle or available to customers on request. 
 
10.2 Any radio communication device, PDA, satellite navigation system or handheld mobile 

device installed in the vehicle by the Operator shall be securely fixed and fitted in such 
a position that it does not impair the drivers view or interfere with his control of the vehicle 
when it is in motion. 

 
11. Standards of Service 
 
11.1 An Operator shall ensure as far as possible that when a private hire vehicle has been 

hired it shall attend punctually at the appointed time and place. 
 
11.2 The Operator shall not cause or permit a greater number of passengers to be conveyed 

in a vehicle, which exceeds its licensed capacity. 
 
11.3 An Operator, to the best of his/her knowledge, shall ensure that all drivers operated by 

him/her are clean and presentable and that the vehicles dispatched are clean and in a 
roadworthy condition. 

 
12. Touting 
 
12.1 The Operator shall not: 

 
a) Tout or solicit any person to hire or be carried for hire in any private hire vehicle; or 
b) Cause or procure any other person to tout or solicit any person to hire or be carried 

for hire in any private hire vehicle: unless the details of the journey have been 
recorded as a booking before the commencement of the journey. 

 
13. Premises 
 
13.1 Any rooms or areas provided for the public for waiting or making bookings must be clean, 

adequately heated, ventilated, well lit and have adequate seating facilities.  If any such 

Page 15



rooms are provided for use by the public, the Operator must hold public liability insurance 
for those areas if relevant.  
 

13.2 Smoking is not permitted in any areas of the premises, at any time. 
 
14. Assistance Dogs/Wheelchair Users 
 
14.1 In the case of a passenger who is accompanied by an assistance dog, the Operator 

shall not refuse to accept the hiring merely because the dog is accompanying the 
passenger.  

 
14.2 An Operator may not make any additional charge for the carriage of a guide/assistance 

dog, the conveyance of a wheelchair, or other equipment required by a person suffering 
from a disability. 

Page 16



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL  
 
PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER CONDITIONS OF LICENCE 
 
Interpretation 
 
In these conditions:- 
 
a) “The Licensing Authority” means Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council; 
 
b) “Authorised Officer” means any Officer authorised by the Licensing Authority or any 

Police Constable; 
 
c) “Licence” means the Private Hire Driver’s Licence, granted by the Licensing Authority. 
 
Introduction 
 
This licence is granted to you subject to you complying with the following conditions of licence.  
The Licensing Authority reserves the right to vary these conditions or impose further conditions 
at any time without further consultation. 
 
Failure to comply with any of the conditions may lead to a prosecution or could lead to your 
licence being suspended, revoked or not renewed by the Licensing Authority. 
 
Possession of this document does not guarantee that the licence is in force. Its validity may 
be established by the Licensing Authority. 
 
This licence does not permit you to drive a Hackney Carriage. 
 
If you are aggrieved by any of these conditions attached to your licence you may make an 
application for exemption from them and attend a hearing before the appropriate committee. 
Alternatively you can appeal to a Magistrates Court within 21 days of the service of this licence 
and conditions on you.  
 
If you have any difficulty in understanding or complying with of any of the conditions below, 
please inform the Licensing Authority immediately so that arrangements can be made to assist 
you in that respect.  
 
These conditions are attached to your licence in addition to any other legal requirements to 
which you are required to comply. These include, but are not restricted to, the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
1. Conduct of the Driver 

 
1.1 The driver shall ensure that any private hire vehicle to be driven by him/her is in a road 

worthy condition and thoroughly cleansed before the commencement of his/her journey. 
 
1.2 The driver shall, on request: 
 

a) Convey a reasonable quantity of luggage; 
 

b)  Assist with passenger’s luggage, including the loading and unloading as well as the 
carrying to or from the entrance of the building or place of pick-up or drop-off. 

1.3  The driver shall at all times be clean and respectable in his/her dress and shall maintain 
a good standard of personal hygiene. 

Page 17



 
1.4 The driver shall be courteous, polite, refrain from the use of obscene and inappropriate 

language/conversation, and behave in a civil and orderly manner at all times. 
 
1.5  The driver shall take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed 

in, entering or alighting from the vehicle driven by him/her. 
 
1.6  The driver is expected to cooperate with Authorised Officers from other Licensing 

Authorities in response to reasonable requests. 
 
1.7. The driver shall attend to bookings punctually and undertake the most direct and 

convenient and shortest route to the destination unless otherwise directed by the 
customer. 

 
1.8  The driver shall not eat or drink in the vehicle whilst carrying passengers. 
 
1.9  Smoking is prohibited in the vehicle at all times.  This includes e-cigarettes and vaping 

instruments.  Drivers are also responsible for ensuring passengers do not smoke in the 
licensed vehicle.  Drivers should take care when smoking close to the vehicle that doors 
and windows are not left open for smoke to enter the vehicle. 

 
1.10 This licence only permits the driver to drive a Private Hire Vehicle licensed by Solihull 

Council, and to undertake work for an operator licensed by Solihull Council. 
 
1.11 The driver shall not unduly obstruct any road, pavement, driveway or thoroughfare at any 

time.   
 
1.12 The driver shall provide his/her name and badge number to any customer on request. 
 
1.13 The driver shall provide a written receipt to the customer on request, providing as a 

minimum: 
 

a)  The date and time; 
b)  The pick up point and destination; 
c)   The fare charged; 
d)  The vehicle licence plate number; 
e)  Operator and driver code; 
f)  Driver’s signature. 
 

1.14 The driver shall not demand from any hirer of a private hire vehicle a fare in excess of 
any previously agreed to the hiring between the hirer and the operator or, if the vehicle 
is fitted with a meter and there has been no previous agreement as to the fare, the fare 
displayed by the meter  . 

 
2.  Passengers 
 
2.1  The driver shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in a private hire vehicle a greater 

number of persons than that prescribed in the licence for the vehicle. 
 
2.2  The driver should ensure that the children are conveyed in the vehicle in the most 

appropriate seat for their age, height and type of restraint available. 
 
2.3  The driver shall not allow any other person in the vehicle without the consent of the hirer. 
 

Page 18



2.4  The driver shall not play any radio or other audio equipment without the permission of 
the hirer and not cause or permit noise emitted by any radio or other equipment in the 
licensed vehicle to become a nuisance or annoyance to any person whether inside or 
outside the vehicle. 

 
2.5  The driver shall not misuse or attempt to misuse the personal details of any customer or 

passenger or share any personal information of the passenger(s). 
 
3.  Lost Property 
 
3.1  The driver shall immediately after the termination of any private hire journey, or as soon 

as practicable thereafter, carefully search the vehicle for any property which may have 
been accidentally left there. 

 
3.2  Reasonable attempts must be made to return any identifiable lost property to its owner.  

If this is not possible, it must be handed into a local police station within 72 hours and a 
receipt obtained. Examples of identifiable properties are driving licenses, passports, 
wallets/purses, mobile phone, laptops etc. 

 
3.3  Non identifiable lost property is to be handed to the Operator for a period of six weeks 

after which time any unclaimed items may be claimed by the person who handed in the 
property. 

 
4.  Assistance Dogs 
 
4.1  The driver must carry assistance dogs accompanying passengers, free of charge, 

unless the driver has a medical exemption granted by the Licensing Authority. The 
medical exemption certificate must be displayed in the vehicle. 

 
4.2  If the driver has been granted a medical exemption from carrying assistance dogs, 

he/she must make the operator aware, prior to undertaking any journeys for them. 
 
4.3  The assistance dog should be allowed to travel in the vehicle in a position at the request 

of the passenger.    
 
5.  Plying for Hire 
 
5.1  The driver shall not: 
 

a) out or solicit any person to hire or be carried for hire in any private hire vehicle; or 
 

b) Cause or procure any other person to tout or solicit any person to hire or be carried 
for hire in any private hire vehicle; or 

 
c)  Ply for hire or take any passenger unless the details of the journey have been 

recorded as a booking through the operator before the commencement of the 
journey. 

 
5.2  The driver shall not accept any return bookings, or make any bookings on behalf of the 

customer or passenger. 
 
5.3  The driver shall not park or wait in any prominent area, such as a night time economy 

area, restaurant, hotel, shopping centre, railway station, hospital, casino etc., where it 
gives an impression/appearance that he/she is available for hire unless he/she has been 
allocated a booking by the operator. 

Page 19



 
6.  Provision of information to operator 
 
6.1  Before undertaking any journeys, the driver shall deposit his private hire driver’s licence 

with the operator for it to be officially recorded on the operator’s records. 
 
6.2  The driver shall also provide their DVLA driving licence to the operator for a copy to be 

retained on the records.  
 
7.  Meter/PDAs/Radios/Handheld mobile devices 
 
7.1  If a private hire vehicle being driven by the driver is fitted with a meter or PDA, the driver 

shall not cause the fare recorded thereon to be cancelled or concealed until the hirer 
has had a reasonable opportunity of examining it and has paid the fare. 

 
7.2  The driver of a private hire vehicle shall not tamper with or permit any person to tamper 

with any meter/PDA with which the vehicle is provided, with the fittings thereof, or with 
the seals affixed thereto. 

 
7.3  Private hire vehicles fitted with a meter may not operate unless the meter is in working 

condition and a certificate has been deposited with the Licensing Authority in the form 
prescribed. 

 
8.  Notification to the Licensing Authority 
 
8.1  The driver shall notify the Licensing Authority in writing of any change of his/her 

address or name during the period of the licence within seven days of such 
change taking place. 

 
8.2  The driver shall notify the Licensing Authority, in writing (electronic), the full 

details of any criminal or motoring conviction, caution or fixed penalty notice 
imposed on him/her during the period of the licence.  This should be done 
immediately and in any case within seven days of the date of the conviction, 
caution or imposition. 

 
8.3  The driver shall notify the Licensing Authority, in writing (electronic), the full 

details of any police warning or court order in relation to harassment or any other 
form of antisocial behaviour, or any civil or family law injunction.  This should be 
done immediately and in any case within seven days of the date of the imposition. 

 
8.4  The driver shall notify the Licensing Authority, in writing (electronic) the full 

details of any type of licence refusal, suspension or revocation by any other 
regulatory authority. He/she should provide the following information:  

 
a)  The name of the regulatory authority/agency/council;  
b)  The number(s) of the licence(s) suspended or revoked;  
c)  The date of the decision; 
d)  A copy of the decision notice issued by the regulatory authority/agency/ 

council giving the grounds for the action taken.  
8.3  The driver must notify the Licensing Authority, within 24 hours, any change in 

his/her medical circumstances.  Those circumstances include the developing of 
any notifiable medical condition or disability under DVLA guidelines, or any 
condition or disability that has worsened since obtaining your DVLA licence.   

 

Page 20



8.4  The driver shall inform the Licensing Authority of the Operator(s) that he/she 
wishes to undertake work for, together with the driver code he/she has been 
assigned before commencement of his/her first booking. The driver may not work 
for more than one Operator within any 12 hour period. 

 
8.5  The driver must notify the Licensing Authority of any accident that has taken place 

in his/her private hire vehicle, that may have caused damage affecting the safety, 
performance or appearance of the vehicle, or the comfort or convenience of the 
driver or his/her passengers.  This should be done as soon as possible and in any 
case within 72 hours. 

 
8.6  The driver must notify the Licensing Authority, within 24 hours, if he/she is 

questioned, interviewed voluntarily, arrested or charged by the police regarding 
any allegation involving a child or vulnerable adult, or any other safeguarding 
issues.  

 
9.  Private Hire Driver’s Badge 
 
9.1  The Private Hire Driver’s badge must be worn in a prominent position where it may be 

clearly seen at all times whilst they are as a Private Hire Driver.  
 
9.2  The driver shall, upon the expiry, revocation or suspension of this licence, or at the 

request of an Authorised Officer, return the driver’s badge and paper licence to the 
Licensing Authority. The badge remains the property of the Licensing Authority. 

 
9.3  If the driver ceases to operate as a Private Hire Driver, he/she must surrender his/her 

driver’s badge and paper licence within seven days to the Licensing Authority. 
 
9.4  The driver must report the loss of the driver’s badge or paper licence to the Licensing 

Authority as soon as possible.  A replacement can be issued upon payment of a fee. 
 
 
  
  
 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE PROPRIETOR’S CONDITIONS OF LICENCE 
 
Interpretation 
 
In these conditions:- 
 
a) “The Licensing Authority” means Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council; 
 
b) “Authorised Officer” means any Officer authorised by the Licensing Authority or any 

Police Constable; 
 
c) “Licence” means the Private Hire Vehicle Proprietor’s Licence, granted by the Licensing 

Authority; 
 
d) “Proprietor” means the person or company that own the vehicle, and to whom this 

licence is granted.  In the case of a partnership, “proprietor” means each of the partners, 
and in  the case of a company, “proprietor” means each of the company directors and 
the company secretary; 

 
e) “Vehicle” means the vehicle to which this licence relates; 
 
f) “Driver” means any person that is legally licensed and insured to drive the vehicle; 
 
g) “Operator” means the licensed person or company that is operating the vehicle and 

driver. 
 
Introduction 
 
This licence is granted to you subject to you complying with the following conditions of licence.  
The Licensing Authority reserves the right to vary these conditions or impose further conditions 
at any time. 
 
Failure to comply with any of the conditions may lead to a prosecution or could lead to your 
licence being suspended, revoked or not renewed by the Licensing Authority. 
 
Possession of this document does not guarantee that the licence is in force, nor does it 
guarantee that the licensed vehicle is in an on-going roadworthy condition. Its validity may be 
established by the Licensing Authority. 
 
If you are aggrieved by any of these conditions attached to your licence you may make an 
application for exemption from them and attend a hearing before the appropriate committee.  
Alternatively you can appeal to a Magistrates Court within 21 days of the service of this licence 
and conditions on you.  
 
If you have any difficulty in understanding or complying with of any of the conditions below, 
please inform the Licensing Authority immediately so that arrangements can be made to assist 
you in that respect.  
 
These conditions are attached to your licence in addition to any other legal requirements to 
which you are required to comply. These include, but are not restricted to, the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
 

Page 23



1. Maintenance of the Vehicle and Safety Equipment 
 
1.1  The proprietor shall: 
 

a)  Provide sufficient means by which any person in the vehicle may communicate with 
the driver; 

 
b)  Ensure the roof of the vehicle is kept watertight; 
 
c)  Provide adequate windows on the vehicle and ensure they are full operational in 

terms of opening and closing them; 
 
d)  Ensure the seats are properly cushioned and covered; 
 
e)  Ensure the floor is provided with a proper carpet, mat or other suitable covering;  
 
f)  Properly maintain the fittings and furniture to ensure it is kept in a clean, safe, tidy 

and comfortable condition and all relevant statutory requirements (including those 
contained in Motor Vehicles (Construction and Use) regulations) are fully complied 
with; 

 
g)  Provide means for carrying and securing luggage; 
 
h)  Ensure all paintwork is maintained to a high standard and is free from dents, 

scratches and rust; 
 
i)  Ensure all wheels are fitted with alloy wheel centre discs or wheel trims that are 

matching, free of scratches and damage, and securely fixed; 
 
j)  Provide properly fitted seat belts and anchorage points for all seats and ensure they 

are kept in good condition and working order. 
 
1.2 The proprietor shall ensure that a full-sized spare wheel, the original manufacturer’s space 

saver wheel, or an appropriate and adequate tyre sealant is carried in the vehicle at all 
times and used in appropriate circumstances. 

 
1.3  Vehicles must only have windows with manufacturers’ tints that allow a minimum light 

transmission of 20%.   
 
1.4  Vehicles used for school transport contracts should not have tinted windows of any 

description. Minimum light transmission must be 75% through the front windscreen and 
70% on all remaining windows. 

 
1.5  Proprietors of vehicles used solely for executive or VIP work may apply for an exemption 

from 1.3 above, on production of appropriate evidence of this work.  The Licensing 
Authority will consider these exemption requests on a case by case basis. 

 
1.6  No material alteration or changes in the specification, design, condition or appearance 

of the vehicle must be made without the prior written (electronic) approval of the 
Licensing Authority at any time whilst the licence is in force. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



 
2. Identification Plate/Exterior markings 
 
2.1 The exterior licence plate issued by the Licensing Authority bearing the number of the 

licence and granted in respect of the vehicle shall be securely fixed to the satisfaction of 
the Licensing Authority on the rear outside of the vehicle.  This can be done by use of a 
bracket supplied by the Licensing Authority, screws, strong magnets or industrial 
strength Velcro. 

  
2.2 The exterior licence plate must be kept clean and in such condition that the information 

contained thereon is clearly visible to public view.  
 
2.3 The exterior licence plate should not be wholly or partially concealed and should not be 

altered in any way. 
 
2.4 The exterior licence plate must be positioned immediately adjacent to the vehicle 

registration plate area in a manner so as not to obstruct or obscure the vehicle 
registration plate. 

 
2.5 The exterior licence plate must be positioned in such a manner to allow it to be easily 

removed by an Authorised Officer.  
 
2.6 The exterior licence plate must not be removed by the proprietor or driver without 

express written (electronic) permission of the Licensing Authority.  
 
2.7 The vehicle must display at least one operator identification sign on either side of the 

vehicle on either the front or rear doors.  Windscreen signs are also permitted but they 
must be displayed in such a manner that does not obstruct the driver’s view.  Signage 
must include the following: 

 
a) The current trading name of the business operating the driver and vehicle (as 

specified on the operator’s licence); 
 
b) The corresponding telephone number or app details of that business. 

 
2.8  Under no circumstances should operator identification signs of more than one operator 

be displayed on the vehicle at the same time. 
 
3. Interior Markings 
 
3.1 The proprietor shall display the interior licence plate inside the vehicle on the near side 

of the windscreen, ensuring it is clearly visible to persons both inside and outside of the 
vehicle.   

 
3.2 The proprietor shall ensure the call sign allocated to him/her by the operator is displayed 

in the front and rear windscreens. 
 
3.3 ‘No Smoking’ signs must be displayed in or on the vehicle in accordance with the Health 

Act 2006. 
 
4. Signs, Notices, etc. 
 
4.1 No signs, notice, advertisements, plates, marks, numbers, letters, figures, symbols, 

emblems or devices whatsoever shall be displayed on, in, or from the vehicle without 
the express written (electronic) permission of the Licensing Authority. 

Page 25



 
4.2 The foregoing provision of this condition shall not apply to a sign on or from a private 

hire vehicle that indicates membership of a recovery/breakdown organisation. 
 
5. Deposit of Driver’s Licences 
 
5.1 If the proprietor of this vehicle permits or employs any other person to drive the vehicle 

as a private hire vehicle, he/she shall, prior to engaging them, ensure that a copy of 
his/her private hire driver’s licence is retained until such time as the driver ceases to be 
permitted or employed to drive the vehicle. 

 
6. Insurance 
 
6.1 The vehicle must be insured at all times.  The proprietor shall produce to the operator a 

current valid certificate of insurance or cover note(s) to show proof of continuing 
insurance cover to permit the vehicle to be used for private hire purposes. 

 
6.2 A copy of the insurance certificate or cover note must be submitted to an authorised 

officer within 24 hours on request. 
 
7. Meters/Radios/PDAs/Handheld mobile devices 
 
7.1 If the vehicle is fitted with a meter, the rate of fares at which the meter is calibrated shall 

be displayed within the vehicle or available to customers on request. 
 
7.2 Any radio communication device, PDA, satellite navigation system or handheld mobile 

device installed in the vehicle shall be securely fixed and fitted in such a position that it 
does not impair the driver’s view or interfere with his/her control of the vehicle when it is 
in motion. 

 
8. Electric Vehicles 
 
8.1 If the vehicle is an electric vehicle, it must be capable of travelling a minimum range of 

86 miles on a full charge. 
 
8.2 The vehicle battery must be capable of a rapid charge to at least 80% capacity within 

one hour of charging. 
 
9. Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles (WAVs) 
 
9.1 If the vehicle is a designated wheelchair accessible vehicle, the proprietor should ensure 

that all drivers are familiar with all equipment fitted to enable hire by a wheelchair user, 
including its correct operation, before allowing them to drive the vehicle.  

 
9.2 Drivers must comply with their duties under the Equality Act 2010, namely: 
 

a) To carry the passenger while in the wheelchair; 
b) Not to make any additional charge for doing so; 
c) If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat, to carry the wheelchair; 
d) To take such steps as are necessary to ensure the passenger is carried in safety 

and reasonable comfort; 
e) To give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required. 
 

9.3 If the driver has been granted a medical exemption by the Licensing Authority, the 
exemption certificate must be clearly displayed in the vehicle.  

Page 26



 
10. Notification to the Licensing Authority 
 
10.1 The proprietor must notify the Licensing Authority of any accident that has taken 

place in his/her private hire vehicle, that may have caused damage affecting the 
safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle, or the comfort or convenience 
of the driver or passengers.  This should be done as soon as possible and in any 
case within 72 hours. 

 
10.2 The vehicle may NOT be sold, exchanged or the proprietor changed without first 

notifying the Licensing Authority, in writing (electronic) and completing the 
necessary documentation. 

 
10.3 The proprietor shall notify the Licensing Authority, in writing, the full details of 

any conviction, caution or fixed penalty notice imposed on him/her during the 
period of the licence.  This should be done immediately and in any case within 
seven days of the date of the conviction, caution or imposition. 

 
10.4 The proprietor shall notify the Council in writing (electronic) of any change of 

his/her address during the period of the licence within seven days of such change 
taking place. 

 
10.5 If the vehicle ceases to operate as a licensed private hire vehicle, the proprietor 

must surrender his/her vehicle plates and paper licence to the Licensing Authority 
within seven days.  

 
11. Accident Management/Leasing Companies 
 
11.1 If the proprietor is an accident management company or a leasing/hiring company, 

he/she must keep accurate records of which driver is using the vehicle at any particular 
time.  He/she must inform the Licensing Authority before the hiring of the vehicle and 
must provide the following information: 
 
a) The completed vehicle ‘On Hire’ form; 
b) Proof of appropriate insurance.  
 

11.2 The records of which driver is using the vehicle at any particular time must be kept for a 
minimum of 12 months and produced to the Licensing Authority on request. 

 
11.3 The accident management company or leasing/hiring company will also be expected to 

comply with any other reasonable requirements of the Licensing Authority. 
 
12. Licences 
 
12.1 The proprietor must report the loss or theft of either of the vehicle licence plates or the 

paper licence to the Licensing Authority as soon as possible and in any case within 7 
days of knowledge of the loss or theft.  A replacement can be issued upon payment of 
a fee. 
 

12.2 The proprietor shall, upon the expiry, revocation or suspension of this licence, or at the 
request of an Authorised Officer, return the vehicle licence plates and paper licence to 
the Licensing Authority within 14 days. The plates remain the property of the Licensing 
Authority. 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE PROPRIETOR’S CONDITIONS OF LICENCE 
 
Interpretation 
 
In these conditions:- 
 
a)  “The Licensing Authority” means Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council. 
 
b)  “Authorised Officer” means any Officer authorised by the Licensing Authority or any 

Police Constable. 
 
c)  “Licence” means the Hackney Carriage Vehicle Proprietor’s Licence, granted by the 

Licensing Authority. 
 
d)  “Proprietor” means the person or company that own the vehicle, and to whom this 

licence is granted.  In the case of a partnership, “proprietor” means each of the partners, 
and in the case of a company, “proprietor” means each of the company directors and 
the company secretary. 

 
e)  “Vehicle” means the vehicle to which this licence relates. 
 
f)  “Driver” means any person that is legally licensed and insured to drive the vehicle. 
 
Introduction 
 
This licence is granted to you subject to you complying with the following conditions of licence.  
The Licensing Authority reserves the right to vary these conditions or impose further conditions 
at any time. 
 
Failure to comply with any of the conditions may lead to a prosecution or could lead to your 
licence being suspended, revoked or not renewed by the Licensing Authority. 
 
Possession of this document does not guarantee that the licence is in force, nor does it 
guarantee that the licensed vehicle is in an on-going roadworthy condition. Its validity may be 
established by the Licensing Authority. 
 
If you are aggrieved by any of these conditions attached to your licence you may make an 
application for exemption from them and attend a hearing before the appropriate committee. 
Alternatively you can appeal to a Magistrates Court within 21 days of the service of this licence 
and conditions on you.  
 
If you have any difficulty in understanding or complying with of any of the conditions below, 
please inform the Licensing Authority immediately so that arrangements can be made to assist 
you in that respect.  
 
These conditions are attached to your licence in addition to any other legal requirements to 
which you are required to comply. These include, but are not restricted to, the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



1. Maintenance of the Vehicle and Safety Equipment 
 
1.1  The proprietor shall: 
 

a)  Provide sufficient means by which any person in the vehicle may communicate with 
the driver; 

 
b)  Ensure the roof of the vehicle is kept watertight; 
 
c)  Provide adequate windows on the vehicle and ensure they are fully operational in 

terms of opening and closing them; 
 
d)  Ensure the seats are properly cushioned and covered; 
 
e)  Ensure the floor is provided with a proper carpet, mat or other suitable covering;  
 
f)  Properly maintain the fittings and furniture to ensure it is kept in a clean, safe, tidy 

and comfortable condition and all relevant statutory requirements (including those 
contained in Motor Vehicles (Construction and Use) regulations) are fully complied 
with; 

 
g)  Provide means for carrying and securing luggage; 
 
h)  Ensure all paintwork is maintained to a high standard and is free from dents, 

scratches and rust; 
 
i)  Ensure all wheels are fitted with alloy wheel centre discs or wheel trims that are 

matching, free of scratches and damage, and securely fixed 
 
j)  Provide properly fitted seat belts and anchorage points for all seats and ensure they 

are kept in good condition and working order. 
 
1.2 The proprietor shall ensure that a full-sized spare wheel, the original manufacturer’s space 

saver wheel, or an appropriate and adequate tyre sealant is carried in the vehicle at all 
times and used in appropriate circumstances. 

 
1.3  Vehicles must only have windows with manufacturers’ tints that allow a minimum light 

transmission of 20%.   
 
1.4  Vehicles used for school transport contracts should not have tinted windows of any 

description. Minimum light transmission must be 75% through the front windscreen, and 
70% on all remaining windows. 

 
1.5  Proprietors of vehicles used solely for executive or VIP work may apply for an exemption 

from 1.3 above, on production of appropriate evidence of this work.  The Licensing 
Authority will consider these exemption requests on a case by case basis. 

 
1.6  No material alteration or changes in the specification, design, condition or appearance 

of the vehicle must be made without the prior written (electronic) approval of the 
Licensing Authority at any time whilst the licence is in force. 

 
2. Taximeter 
 
2.1 The proprietor shall: 

 

Page 30



a) Ensure the vehicle is fitted with an appropriate taximeter; 
 

b) Cause the taximeter to be maintained in a good mechanical condition at all times 
and ensure that it is located within the vehicle in accordance with the instructions of 
the Licensing Authority.  It should not be concealed from view and shall not be 
replaced or altered without prior approval from the Licensing Authority; 

 
c) Ensure the taximeter is set and calibrated to display the current fare rate and tariffs 

approved by the Licensing Authority within 28 days of its implementation.  A 
calibration certificate should be produced to an authorised officer on request; 

 
d) Display a copy of the fare table in the form approved by the Licensing Authority 

inside the passenger compartment where it can be conveniently read by 
passengers hiring the vehicle. 

 
2.2 The proprietor and/or driver shall: 

 
a) Ensure the taximeter is switched off when the vehicle is not hired; 

 
b) Ensure that at all times the vehicle is available for hire, an illuminated sign is clearly 

visible indicating the vehicle’s availability.  Such sign should be switched off as soon 
as the vehicle is hired; 

 
c) Ensure that when the taximeter is brought into action, the fare and permitted extras 

will be shown legibly on the face of the meter and shall be no more that permitted 
by the approved tariff; 

 
d) Be entitled to demand and take for the hire of the vehicle the fare prescribed and 

approved by the Licensing Authority; 
  

e) Once hired, proceed to the destination by the shortest available route, unless 
otherwise directed by the hirer. 

 
3. Identification Plate/Exterior markings 
 
3.1 The exterior licence plate issued by the Licensing Authority bearing the number of the 

licence and granted in respect of the vehicle shall be securely fixed to the satisfaction of 
the Licensing Authority on the rear outside of the vehicle.  This can be done by use of a 
bracket supplied by the Licensing Authority or screws. 

  
3.2 The exterior licence plate must be kept clean and in such condition that the information 

contained thereon is clearly visible to public view.  
 
3.3 The exterior licence plate should not be wholly or partially concealed and should not be 

altered in any way. 
 
3.4 The exterior licence plate must be positioned immediately adjacent to the vehicle 

registration plate area in a manner so as not to obstruct or obscure the vehicle 
registration plate. 

 
3.5 The exterior licence plate must be positioned in such a manner to allow it to be easily 

removed by an Authorised Officer.  
 
3.6 The exterior licence plate must not be removed by the proprietor or driver without 

express written (electronic) permission of the Licensing Authority.  

Page 31



 
 
 
4. Interior Markings 
 
4.1 The proprietor shall display the interior licence plate inside the vehicle on the partition 

between the driver and passenger compartment, facing the passenger compartment so 
that it can be conveniently seen by passengers travelling in the vehicle.  

 
4.2 ‘No Smoking’ signs must be displayed in or on the vehicle in accordance with the Health 

Act 2006. 
 
5. Signs, Notices, etc. 
 
5.1 Reasonable advertising may be permitted on the vehicle, subject to prior written 

(electronic) approval by the Licensing Authority.  Advertisements must be in good taste 
and should not contain any material that may be considered offensive to any sector of 
the community.  Advertisements containing any reference to alcohol, smoking products, 
gambling, or full or partial nudity will not be permitted.  

  
5.2 No other signs, notice, advertisements, plates, marks, numbers, letters, figures, 

symbols, emblems or devices whatsoever shall be displayed on, in, or from the vehicle 
without the express written (electronic) permission of the Licensing Authority. 

 
5.3 The foregoing provision of this condition shall not apply to a sign on or from a private 

hire vehicle that indicates membership of a recovery/breakdown organisation. 
 
6. Deposit of Driver’s Licences 
 
6.1 If the proprietor of this vehicle permits or employs any other person to drive the vehicle, 

he/she shall, prior to engaging them, ensure that a copy of his/her hackney carriage 
driver’s licence is retained until such time as the driver ceases to be permitted or 
employed to drive the vehicle.  The proprietor shall make this document available to an 
authorised officer on request. 

6.2 The proprietor shall provide all drivers with a copy of these conditions and instruct drivers 
to comply with them at all times. 

 
7. Insurance 
 
7.1 The vehicle must be insured at all times.  The proprietor shall produce to the licensing 

authority a current valid certificate of insurance or cover note(s) to show proof of 
continuing insurance cover to permit the vehicle to be used for public hire purposes. 

 
7.2 A copy of the insurance certificate or cover note must be submitted to an authorised 

officer within 24 hours on request. 
 
8. Radios/PDAs/Handheld mobile devices 
 
8.1 Any radio communication device, PDA, satellite navigation system or handheld mobile 

device installed in the vehicle shall be securely fixed and fitted in such a position that it 
does not impair the driver’s view or interfere with his/her control of the vehicle when it is 
in motion. 

 
 
 

Page 32



9. Electric Vehicles 
 
9.1 If the vehicle is an electric vehicle, it must be capable of travelling a minimum range of 

86 miles on a full charge. 
 
9.2 The vehicle battery must be capable of a rapid charge to at least 80% capacity within 

one hour of charging. 
 
10. Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles (WAVs) 
 
10.1 The vehicle must be a designated wheelchair accessible vehicle, and must display the 

recognised disability symbol on the exterior of the vehicle. 
 
10.2 The proprietor must ensure that all drivers are familiar with all equipment fitted to enable 

hire by a wheelchair user, including its correct operation, before allowing them to drive 
the vehicle.  

 
10.3 The proprietor and all drivers must comply with their duties under the Equality Act 2010, 

namely:  
 

a) To carry the passenger while in the wheelchair; 
 

b) Not to make any additional charge for doing so; 
 

c) If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat, to carry the wheelchair; 
 

d) To take such steps as are necessary to ensure the passenger is carried in safety 
and reasonable comfort; 

e) To give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required. 
 
10.4 If the driver has been granted a medical exemption by the Licensing Authority, the 

exemption certificate must be clearly displayed in the vehicle.  
 
11. Assistance Dogs 
 
11.1 The driver must carry assistance dogs accompanying passengers, free of charge, 

unless the driver has a medical exemption granted by the Licensing Authority. The 
medical exemption certificate must be displayed in the vehicle. 
 

11.2 The assistance dog should be allowed to travel in the vehicle in a position at the request 
of the passenger. 

 
12.  Lost Property 

 
12.1 The proprietor or driver shall immediately after the termination of any hiring, or as soon 

as practicable thereafter, carefully search the vehicle for any property which may have 
been accidentally left there. 
 

12.2 Reasonable attempts must be made to return any identifiable lost property to its owner.  
If this is not possible, it must be handed into a local police station within 72 hours and a 
receipt obtained. Examples of identifiable properties are driving licenses, passports, 
wallets/purses, mobile phone, laptops etc. 

 

 

Page 33



12.3 Non identifiable lost property is to be handed to the Licensing Authority for a period of 
six weeks after which time any unclaimed items may be claimed by the person who 
handed in the property. 

 
13. Notification to the Licensing Authority 
 
13.1 The proprietor and/or driver must notify the Licensing Authority of any accident 

that has taken place in his/her hackney carriage vehicle, that may have caused 
damage affecting the safety, performance or appearance of the vehicle, or the 
comfort or convenience of the driver or passengers.  This should be done as soon 
as possible and in any case within 72 hours. 

 
13.2 The vehicle may NOT be sold, exchanged or the proprietor changed without first 

notifying the Licensing Authority, in writing (electronic) and completing the 
necessary documentation. 

 
13.3 The proprietor and/or driver shall notify the Licensing Authority, in writing, the full 

details of any conviction, caution or fixed penalty notice imposed on him/her 
during the period of the licence.  This should be done immediately and in any case 
within seven days of the date of the conviction, caution or imposition. 

 
13.4 The proprietor and/or driver shall notify the Council in writing (electronic) of any 

change of his/her address during the period of the licence within seven days of 
such change taking place. 

 
13.5 If the vehicle ceases to operate as a licensed hackney carriage vehicle, the 

proprietor must surrender his/her vehicle plates and paper licence to the 
Licensing Authority within seven days.  

 
14. Accident Management/Leasing Companies 
 
14.1 If the proprietor is an accident management company or a leasing/hiring company, 

he/she must keep accurate records of which driver is using the vehicle at any particular 
time.  He/she must inform the Licensing Authority before the hiring of the vehicle and 
must provide the following information 
 
a) The completed vehicle ‘On Hire’ form; 
b) Proof of appropriate insurance.  

 
14.2 The records of which driver is using the vehicle at any particular time must be kept for a 

minimum of 12 months and produced to the Licensing Authority on request. 
 
14.3 The accident management company or leasing/hiring company will also be expected to 

comply with any other reasonable requirements of the Licensing Authority. 
 
15. Licences 
 
15.1 The proprietor must report the loss or theft of either of the vehicle licence plates or the 

paper licence to the Licensing Authority as soon as possible and in any case within 7 
days of knowledge of the loss or theft.  A replacement can be issued upon payment of 
a fee. 

15.2 The proprietor shall, upon the expiry, revocation or suspension of this licence, or at the 
request of an Authorised Officer, return the vehicle licence plates and paper licence to 
the Licensing Authority within 14 days. The plates remain the property of the Licensing 
Authority. 

Page 34


	Agenda
	4 Review of Licence Conditions for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers, Operators and Vehicle Proprietors
	App. A - Operator Conditions
	App. B - Driver Conditions
	App. C - PHV conditions
	App. D - HCV conditions


